1996

Joseph Ralph Warren v. John Melville : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff initiated a suit for general damages arising out of injuries sustained in an automobile accident. The Fifth Judicial District Court, the Honorable James L. Shumate presiding, dismissed the action on defendant's motion for summary judgment on the grounds that plaintiff's claim did not satisfy the threshold requirements of Utah Code Ann. §31A-22-309(1). Plaintiff appeals contending that the statute denies plaintiff constitutionally protected remedies, equal protection, and due process of law.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Does the statutory threshold of the Utah no-fault automobile insurance law¹ violate sections 7, 11, and 24 of Article I of the Utah Constitution? This issue was clearly preserved in the district court (R 0041-0101).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The texts of the following are reproduced in the addendum: Magna Carta of King John, 1215; Statute of Mag. Cart. cap. 29, 1297; Utah Const. Art. I, §§7, 11, and 24; and Utah Code Ann. §31A-22-309(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff was injured in the course of his employment when the automobile he was driving was struck broadside by an automobile driven by defendant. He was transported by ambulance to Dixie Regional Medical Center where he was treated and later released. (R 0001-0002, 0033-0036).

As a consequence of his injuries, plaintiff lost seven days' work and underwent physical therapy for over four months. He incurred medical expenses in the amount of \$2,583.56 which were paid by his employer's workers' compensation insurance carrier. The carrier also paid plaintiff \$152.15 as compensation for his \$810.51 loss in earnings. (R 0033-0036).

Plaintiff sued defendant for general damages. Plaintiff conceded that his medical expenses would not exceed \$3,000. He alleged no dismemberment, disfigurement, or permanent disability (R 0001-0002).

¹All statutory references herein are to the Utah Code Annotated. The provisions of chapter 22, Title 31A and chapter 12a, Title 41 will sometimes be collectively referred to as "the no-fault statutes."

Defendant moved for summary judgment contending that plaintiff could not maintain a cause of action because his claim did not satisfy the threshold requirements of section 31A-22-309(1) (R 0030-0032). The district court granted defendant's motion and dismissed plaintiff's complaint (R 0153-0154).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The right to recover damages for personal injury caused by another's negligence was recognized at the common law in existence when the Utah Constitution was framed. This and other common law remedies that were available at that time establish a level of "substantive protection" which must be extended to the citizens of this state against injuries to one's person, property, and reputation suffered as a consequence of the wrongful act or omission of another.

Absent the need to eliminate a "clear economic or social evil," these rights cannot be abrogated unless a substantially equal substitute remedy is provided. The no-fault statutes provide no such remedy. Moreover, the socio-economic problems that are addressed by the no-fault statutes cannot be reasonably characterized as "evils." The abrogation of the common-law remedy for personal injury is an unreasonable means of attempting to achieve the goals identified in the legislation.

Finally, the no-fault statutes violate principles of equal protection by arbitrarily shifting the burden of attempting to reduce automobile insurance premiums to those who suffer sub-threshold personal injuries. A statutory classification which abolishes some remedies for personal injury and preserves others is subject to "heightened scrutiny" because the rights involved are constitutionally protected.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

UTAH'S NO-FAULT STATUTES EXTINGUISH COMMON-LAW REMEDIES FOR SOME PERSONAL INJURIES.

At common law a person has a duty to use reasonable care to avoid injuring other persons. See Malan v. Lewis, 693 P.2d 661, 673 (Utah 1984). The common law provides one who suffered personal injury as the result of another's negligence a remedy in money damages. The remedy includes compensation for pecuniary losses; pain, discomfort, and suffering, both physical and mental; and disruption of the ordinary affairs of life. See Judd v. Rowley's Cherry Hill Orchards, 611 P.2d 1216 (Utah 1980).

By provision of part III, chapter 22, Title 31A, and part III, chapter 12a, Title 41, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, a person who has or is required to have direct benefit coverage under a policy of automobile liability insurance may not maintain a common-law cause of action for general damages for personal injury sustained in an automobile accident unless a statutorily defined threshold is satisfied. Section 31A-22-309(1) effectively extinguishes all claims for any such injuries unless one of the following occurs as a consequence thereof: (a) death; (b) dismemberment; (c) permanent disability or impairment; (d) permanent disfigurement; or (e) the individual incurs medical expenses in excess of \$3,000.

POINT II

LEGISLATIVE POWER TO ABROGATE TRADITIONAL REMEDIES IS SUBJECT TO LIMITATION.

A.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

To a large extent the development of the English common law has been a process of identifying, and declaring the legal enforceability of, rights and remedies which were recognized under "the custom of the realm." The common law was neither edict nor political mandate. It was an incident of the culture, a reflection of the "collective conscience," rather than a product of political dynamics within the culture.² "Springing from the very nature of the people themselves, and developed in their own experience, it was obviously the body of laws best adapted to their needs. . . ." Cooley, Constitutional Limitations (6th ed.) 32.

"Originally the purpose of general statutes was mainly to declare and reaffirm . . . common-law principles . . . that king and subject alike might understand and observe them." Id. at 33-34. Such was the purpose of "the first great statute," exacted sword in hand as "the confession of the king" who in that day held the legislative power: the king by "Divine Right" confessing our "native and original liberties" by the execution of a document now known as Magna Carta. See id. at 34.

At least as early as the mid-seventeenth century, there was substantial support for the proposition that Magna Carta was a confirmation of the common law. See A. Pallister, Magna Carta, The Heritage of Liberty (Oxford 1971) 9-11. Sir Edward Coke

²The phrase "collective conscience" comes from Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 493 (1965)(Goldberg, J., concurring), where it is used to indicate a deep-rooted public consensus regarding the fundamental nature of a principle or an individual right.

contended that in executing Magna Carta the Crown had conceded the prerogative to abrogate common-law principles. Other legal scholars resisted the notion that vulgar custom could become the measure of the power of the monarchy which was itself "the only legally constituted and divinely ordained authority in society." Id. at 24. Law did not exist in the absence of superior authority to command obedience. See id. at 24-25.

In the parliament of 1628, Lord Coke, who had previously served as Chief Justice of Common Pleas and King's Bench and was then a member of the Country opposition, together with other members of parliament drafted a petition asking Charles I not to levy taxes without consent of parliament, not to imprison his subjects without due cause being shown, not to billet soldiers in private homes, and not to put civilians under martial law. This would later become known as the Petition of Right. Coke's legal premise was the so-called Maxim: "The Common-Law hath admeasured the King's prerogative." See id. at 9-10. This was nothing short of an assertion that the common law had attained constitutional stature. See id. at 9-11, 20-23.

Charles granted the petition but only because he needed parliamentary approval of the funding of his war against Spain. Beginning in 1629, he would undertake a policy of personal rule. Parliament would not meet again until 1640 and civil war would follow almost immediately thereafter. The Petition of Right would take its place in the history of the English constitutional tradition and be received, like Magna Carta, with ambivalence which may be attributed in part to its ignominious genesis and in part to the fact that Magna Carta and the Petition of Right are acknowledgments of the king's sovereignty, representing nothing more than concessions he has made to his subjects. See The Federalist No. 84, p. 464 (M. Chadwick ed. 1987)(A. Hamilton).

Some legal writers contend that Coke had suggested that Magna Carta also

placed limitations upon parliament's power to alter or abolish the common law. In 1610, Coke wrote his famous dictum in *Dr. Bonham's Case*:

And it appears in our books, that in many cases, the common law will controul Acts of Parliament, and sometimes adjudge them to be utterly void: for when an Act of Parliament is against common right and reason, or repugnant, or impossible to be performed, the common law will controul it, and adjudge such Act to be void.

8 Co.Rep. 113 b, 77 Eng. Rep. 646 (K.B. 1610). Other scholars have concluded that Coke was actually an advocate of "parliamentary sovereignty." See Pallister at 46 n. 4 (accompanying text). It is probably more accurate to say that Coke regarded parliament as the protector of the common law against royal despotism. See id. at 48. In Coke's day, the apparent threat to the rights of Englishmen was the ambition of the Stuarts, not parliament.

In the late seventeenth century, Cokean stress on parliament's duty as the protector of the common law found an ally in John Locke. See id. at 48-49. Locke was an English philosopher in the natural law tradition. Under his social compact theory, government is a fiduciary established for the protection of "life, liberty and estate." In the implied compact with his government, the citizen has a reciprocal duty of loyalty so long as the government keeps its part of the bargain. The people extend the power to govern and retain the right to withdraw it. Although the differences between Locke's social compact and Cokean theory were fundamental, both hampered development of the doctrine of parliamentary sovereignty. Id.

From the earliest colonial days, British colonists in America claimed the benefit and protection of the common law. In a contest with the home government, the ability to demonstrate that the common law conferred the rights which they claimed became "a source of immense moral power." See Cooley at 34-35. They wanted to be treated as Englishmen, to be "the inheritors of the Common Law, the Common Law as Coke and the

older jurists understood it." See J.Wu, Natural Law and Our Common Law, 23 Fordham L.Rev. 13, 38-39 (1954).

The Americans would eventually throw off the government and abandon the monarchy and the parliamentary system, but we would keep "the best birth-right the Subject hath" -- the common law tradition. European nobility would describe America as an asylum where the inmates were in charge. We, on the other hand, would conduct ourselves as though we had laid claim upon the inheritance of the firstborn.

In America, "WE, THE PEOPLE" are the sovereign. We "ordain and establish" the constitutions by which we delegate "sovereignty" to the state and federal governments in such measure as we establish. See The Federalist No. 84, p. 464 (M. Chadwick ed. 1987)(A. Hamilton). These governments exist at the sufferance of the people, in whom "[a]ll political power is inherent. . . ." Utah Const. Art. I, §2.

Under our federalist system, the federal sovereign is a government of "enumerated powers." It is not the prerogative of Congress to establish general property or tort law. See U.S. Const. Art. I, §8 and Amend. 10. Moreover, to the extent there is a "federal common law,"³ it does not undertake to define interpersonal rights and remedies. See generally, 32 Am Jur 2d, Federal Practice and Procedure §§310-319. It is state law which embraces the common-law principles, usages, and rules of action which in themselves are sufficient to the government and security of persons and property. To the extent the American and the English systems of government are comparable, the parallel is one existing between the British Parliament and the state legislature. Congress has no counterpart in the

³In the strictest sense, there is no federal common law. In the absence of congressional legislation, there is no body of federal law other than the Constitution. Even in those areas which fall within the "enumerated powers" of the federal government, the state law, common and statutory, will govern unless supplemented or preempted by an act of Congress. See 32 Am Jur 2d, Federal Practice and Procedure §303.

English system. See 16 Am Jur 2d, Constitutional Law §10.

Ironically, American constitutional law has become so "federalized" that we have come to think of the limitations placed upon government by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments as the measure of the power of the various state legislatures. See generally, Schuman, The Right to a Remedy, 65 Temple L.Rev. 1197 (1992); Note, State Constitutional Remedy Provisions, 62 Wash.L.Rev. 203, 208-11 (1989); Note, The Constitutionality of Statutes of Repose: Federalism Reigns, 38 Vand.L.Rev. 627 (1985). The validity of state legislative enactments has come to be judged almost exclusively in terms of federal due process and federal equal protection. The Cokean doctrine of limitation upon the sovereign's power modify or abolish common-law rights and remedies no longer plays a significant part in modern American state constitutional law. Indeed, the right to "defend" our "rights" in the legislative process has become the swallow political legacy of a rich legal heritage. The tyranny of the majority -- and worse, of special interest -- has become the hallmark of our democratic republic.⁴

B.

DUE PROCESS OF LAW

Federal "Substantive Due Process." What we now commonly refer to as "substantive due process" was the progeny (or a vestige, depending on one's point of view) of the natural law tradition. See 16 Am Jur 2d, Constitutional Law §442. See also, Corwin, The Debt of

⁴While the framers of the federal constitution appreciated the fact that it was important "not only to guard society against the oppression of its rulers, but to guard one part of society against the injustice of the other part," they assumed that the fractionalization of the society under the proposed federation would virtually eliminate "danger from interested combinations of the majority." The Federalist No. 51, p. 283 (M. Chadwick ed. 1987)(J. Madison). Indeed, "popular sovereignty" can be as intolerable as any other form of despotism when one is a stranger to any part of the political power.

American Constitutional Law to Natural Law Concepts, 25 Notre Dame L.Rev. 258 (1950).

Government, whatever its form, does not create individual rights any more than does the physician give life. "Rights" which are created can as easily be extinguished. Fundamental rights are inalienable. Neither the government nor any branch thereof can establish a law which impairs the free exercise of conscience, abrogates the right to acquire and control property, or denies any citizen the protection of his person. Such is the philosophy of the natural law.

The language of the Declaration of Independence is overflowing with natural law and social compact concepts. However, it would soon become apparent that the recognition of law which is higher than the will of the popular sovereign was an impractical, if not impossible, undertaking in a tripartite democratic republic. Right and wrong, good and evil, virtue and vice are defined by our customs, traditions, religious tenets, personal ethics, biases, and even prejudices. Who, in our constitutional system of separated powers, is to be arbiter of our "collective conscience"?

[S]ome speculative jurists have held, that a legislative act against natural justice must, in itself, be void; but I cannot think that, under [a constitutional scheme allocating powers without explicit limitations], any Court of Justice would possess power to declare it so. . . . [I]t has been the policy of all the American states, which have, individually, framed their state constitutions since the revolution, and of the people of the United States, when they framed the Federal Constitution, to define with precision the objects of the legislative power, and to restrain its exercise within marked and settled boundaries. . . . If, on the other hand, the Legislature of the Union, or the Legislature of any member of the Union, shall pass a law, within the general scope of their constitutional power, the Court cannot pronounce it to be void, merely because it is, in their judgment, contrary to the principles of natural justice. The ideas of natural justice are regulated by no fixed standard: the ablest and the purest men have differed upon the subject; and all that the Court could properly say, in such an event, would be, that the Legislature (possessed of an equal right of opinion) had passed an act which, in the opinion of the judges, was inconsistent with the abstract principles of natural justice.

Calder v. Bull, 3 Dall. 386, 398-99 (1798) (Iredell, J.). This would be only the beginning of the debate in the United States Supreme Court.

Those who sought express limitations upon legislative authority contended that they had found them in the due process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. See Grant, The Natural Law Background of Due Process, 31 Col.L.Rev. 56 (1931). Lord Coke had drawn a parallel between the phrase "due process of law" and Magna Carta's "law of the land" which language, according to Coke, was an invocation of the common law tradition. E.g. Jensen v. Union Pac. Ry. Co., 6 Utah 253, 255-56, 21 P. 994, 995 (1889). Federal and state courts used the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to strike down statutes on federal substantive due process grounds long before federal procedural due process became the standard in state court criminal proceedings.

However, federal substantive due process lost the support of the federal judiciary during the Great Depression. Nebbia v. New York, 291 U.S. 502, 532 (1934), taught us that, under the federal constitution, there was nothing "sacrosanct about the price one may charge for what he makes or sells." The same thing could have been said of most of the "rights" which we as Americans, in our shared delusion, assume to be within the embrace of some federal constitutional protection.⁵

In Barron v. Baltimore, 7 Pet. 243 (1833), Chief Justice Marshall noted:

The Constitution was ordained and established by the people of the United States for themselves, for their own government, and not for the government of the individual states. Each state established a constitution for itself, and in that constitution provided such limitations and restrictions on the powers of its particular government as its

⁵The United States Supreme Court's relatively recent revival of federal substantive due process in the interest of defining the "collective conscience" on issues of privacy and personal autonomy has again fueled the debate over this "undisciplined" doctrine of judicial review. See In re J.P., 648 P.2d 1364, 1375 (Utah 1982).

judgment dictated.

Id. at 247. And yet, when the state legislature's judgment does not comport with our own perception of the "collective conscience," we scour the federal constitution like disinherited children seeking support for the proposition that it places limitations upon the Legislature's prerogative to define substantive law. "We search in vain. . . ." Id. at 249.

State Substantive "Due Process." Our state constitution was drawn as the charter of a sovereign possessing general police power. It is the product of an era filled with notions of "natural justice" and the "higher law" as well as Cokean integration of the common law into Magna Carta which persisted long after governmental powers were allocated by written constitutions.

Less than six years before the Utah Constitution was drafted, the Utah Supreme Court decided Jensen v. Union Pac. Ry. Co., supra. In that case plaintiff brought an action against defendant railway company for the value of two horses killed on defendant's tracks. Although the jury made a special finding that the defendant was guilty of no negligence, the trial court entered judgment in favor of the plaintiff in accordance with a statute which imposed absolute liability upon a railway company for the loss of livestock injured or killed "by running an engine."

After quoting the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment, the territorial supreme court briefly discussed the parallel Coke had drawn between the phrase, "due process of law," and Magna Carta's "liberty clause" which the court described as, "[f]or more than 600 years[.]. . . the sheer-anchor of the liberty of the English-speaking people." 6 Utah at 255, 21 P. at 995. In so doing, the court laid its premise for the following conclusion:

When the Charter was signed by the King of England it must be borne in mind that there was then existing the common law of that country,

which prescribed regular and consistent forms and methods of judicial procedure for the administration of distributive justice, and it is in the light of this common law that the quotation is to be interpreted.

Id. at 256, 21 P. at 995.

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