1996

Joseph Ralph Warren v. John Melville : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Like Utah, the Supreme Court of Connecticut recognized that its open courts provision required a reasonable alternative, but not an exact equation of remedies.

Thus for each remedy or item of damage existing under the prior fault system, it is not required that that item be duplicated under the act but that the bulk of remedies under the act be of such significance that a court is justified in viewing this legislation on the whole as a substitute, the benefits from which are sufficient to tolerate the removal of the prior cause of action.

...

It is this aggregate of benefits to the insured that clearly falls within the ambit of reasonable alternative.

Gentile v. Altermatt, 363 A.2d 1, 15 (Conn. 1976). Therefore, while limiting recovery for the non-exempted plaintiff, the act further assures to each insured that when he is placed in the role of tortfeasor he is granted immunity from suit to the extent that his victim is in the non-exempted category.

The true character of Article I, section 11 was summarized by the Utah Supreme Court in Berry as follows:

In sum, Section 11 does not recede before every legislative enactment, but neither may be applied in a mechanical fashion to strike every statute with which there may be a conflict. To hold every statute of repose unconstitutional without regard to the legislative purpose could result in the legislative inability to cope with wide spread social or economic evils.

Berry, 717 P.2d at 680.

In commenting on Article I, section 11, particularly the Berry decision, Justice Zimmerman in his concurring opinion in Condemarin v. University Hospital, 775 P.2d 348, 368 (Utah 1989) wrote:

I do not suggest that we should strike down any such legislation if a less restrictive alternative is conceivable, as might be required by “fundamental rights” equal protection analysis [federal equal protection]. Rather, I agree with the approach taken in Berry of

weighing the particular infringement on the Article I, section 11 interest at issue against the justifications offered for the restriction. Berry, 717 P.2d at 680, 683. This balancing process may not be as apparently neat and precise as the rigid equal protection classifications tests that have developed under the federal Constitution, but it is an approach better calculated to recognize the realities that a legislature must face in attempting to deal with perceived social and economic problems

Condemarin involved a question concerning the statutes which imposed a limit on the amount a person could claim against an uninsured government entity. In the Condemarin case, it appeared that due to the cap, which by the decision was declared unconstitutional, the plaintiff would not even be able to recover actual out-of-pocket losses. Justice Zimmerman, commented further in regards to Article I, section 11 in the context of the Condemarin facts:

Returning to the present case, there could be no question that the legislation at issue, which severely restricts the right of every citizen to recover even actual out-of-pocket losses, both from a narrow category of health care providers who are the actual malefactors and from their governmental employer, substantially infringes upon those interests specifically protected by Article I, section 11. See Berry, 717 P.2d at 676 and n. 3.

...

In my view, when the people are deprived of a right to actual out-of-pocket expenditures that have been or will be incurred because of the tortious conduct of another, the infringement upon the right to recover for harm to a person is far more severe and requires far more justification than when general damages for pain and suffering or punitive damages are restricted.

Id. at 369. Justice Zimmerman's comments are most telling. The no-fault statute does not interfere in any way with a tort victim's collection of out-of-pocket expenditures. Thus, Utah's no-fault statute satisfies Article I, section 11 on the first part of the Berry two part analysis alone. As the plaintiff recognizes:

In the event the court should determine that the no-fault statute provides a substitute remedy which is “substantially equal in value or other benefit” to the remedy which is abrogated thereby, the legislation will not be subject to further review on a “due process” level. Moreover, such a determination would apparently destroy any basis for applying “heightened scrutiny,” under a state equal protection analysis because the persons within the class would enjoy substantive protection substantially equal to that enjoyed by those who do not fall within the statutory classification. The statutory classification established by the No-fault threshold would still be subject to review but only under a “rational basis” standard which it would almost certainly survive.¹⁹

Plaintiff’s Brief at 24-25. Since the injured person is given an effective and reasonable alternative remedy, the statute is constitutional.

Again, many states have addressed whether no-fault statutes provide a reasonable alternative remedy. Gentile v. Altermatt, 363 A.2d 1 (Conn. 1975); Lasky v. State Farm, 296 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1974); Manzanares v. Bell, 522 P.2d 1291 (Kan . 1974); Pinnick v. Cleary, 271 N.E.2d 592 (Mass. 1971). In every one of these cases, the court found that the no-fault statute was a reasonable alternative. Of course, the exact nature of the remedy may have been changed, but the aggregate of benefits clearly falls within the ambit of reasonable alternative.

In construing the Kansas no-fault statute, the Kansas Supreme Court recognized:

Moreover, the Kansas No-Fault Act assures all motor vehicle accident victims of prompt, efficient payment of certain economic losses. To the extent there is a limitation on a person’s ability to recover non-pecuniary damages, the rights received are no less adequate.

¹⁹As has previously been explained, the standard of review of strict scrutiny does not apply in the present matter. The plaintiff concedes that the No-fault threshold would survive a rational basis review.

Manzanares, 522 P.2d at 1301.

It is important for this court to note that all the Utah cases cited by the plaintiff which hold statutes unconstitutional under the open court provision involve the total abolition of any remedy, with the exception of Condemarin v. University Hospital, 775 P.2d 348 (Utah 1989). See Lee v. Gaufin, 867 P.2d 572 (Utah 1993) (medical malpractice statute of repose totally abrogated remedy); Berry v. Beech Aircraft, 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985) (products liability statute of repose abrogated any remedy); Malan v. Lewis, 693 P.2d 661 (Utah 1984) (guest statute abrogated entire remedy). In the single exception, Condemarin, the governmental immunity cap of \$100,000.00 regarding medical malpractice claims was found unconstitutional as applied to the facts of Condemarin because it limited even economic and pecuniary, or out-of-pocket, damages. As a result, although these cases are clearly controlling and offer a frame work in which this courts analysis should be founded, these cases do not provide precedent for finding the no-fault insurance laws unconstitutional.

In this case, in contrast to those cases which have found previous laws in the State of Utah unconstitutional under the open courts provision, only one small facet of a remedy has been replaced. No out-of-pocket or economic damages are taken from the plaintiff in this case. It is true that the form of the substitute is different. However, the Berry court itself noted that the form of a remedy may be different in that the form does not necessarily need to include a judicial remedy. Berry, 717 P.2d at 675 n. 1. The Utah no-fault statute passes muster because not only

does it substitute an alternate remedy, but the abrogation of any single element of the common law remedy is justifiable because of the social and economic evils which are overcome by enactment of the no-fault statute.

As heretofore pointed out, two of the main reasons the no-fault statute was enacted were to create a more efficient process through which the great majority of personal injury claims could be liquidated, and to provide an incentive for persons to obtain motor vehicle insurance to drive on the highways of the State of Utah. The social and economic evils in this case are the same. Clogged courts and uninsured drivers are costly to society, both economically and otherwise.²⁰ By removing a great number of minor automobile accident claims from the courts and providing a non-judicial remedy, the courts are free to address other needs of society such as the spheres of criminal law, commercial law, domestic law, and serious injury cases. Likewise, this court can appreciate the need to compel and induce the citizens of the State of Utah to purchase insurance. The uninsured driver is surely a social and economic evil to be dealt with. The legislature's use of the no-fault statute as an incentive is neither arbitrary nor unreasonable.

Because the Utah no-fault laws provide a substitute remedy which is substantial in value or other benefit to the common law remedy for personal injury in a minor automobile accident, the legislation is not subject to further review under Berry. Nonetheless, even if the court were

²⁰No-fault has led to a reduction in the number of lawsuits and, thus, to significant savings in court and other public legal costs. Each jury tort trial costs the taxpayer approximately \$8,300. DOT study at 5.

to look at whether the abrogation is justified, the legislature has eliminated a clear social and economic evil by reducing the number of claims in the courts and providing the incentive to reduce the number of uninsured drivers on the roads. Accordingly, Utah's no-fault insurance laws withstand Plaintiff's due process challenge under Article I, sections 7 and 11.

V. UTAH'S NO FAULT LAWS ARE REASONABLE AND EQUITABLE

As previously explained, there exists a common misperception that the Utah's no-fault laws have robbed a plaintiff of a significant amount of damages previously recoverable at common law. However, a thorough reading of Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309 provides that no special damages have been effected. Only general damages in minor injury claims have been eliminated, and it is questionable whether such damages would be significant in any event.

Below the plaintiff claimed that the Utah no-fault system destroyed personal accountability in the operation of motor vehicles upon the State of Utah. Plaintiff makes this same argument on appeal. Plaintiff claims that the insurance benefits and coverage offered by Utah's no-fault statute have nothing to do with interpersonal relationship or individual rights and that vindication can no longer be part of the social equation. Plaintiff claims that because of a lack of personal accountability, the no-fault statute will not make persons responsible to live up to a standard of reasonable care. This assertion lacks merit.²¹

²¹It is an acknowledged fact that the exposure to the risk of tort liability in a common law setting did not function as a significant factor in motivating drivers to operate their vehicles carefully or prudently. See United States Department of Transportation Report prepared at the

First, the no-fault statute does not do away with personal accountability. Under the no-fault statute, one is still liable under normal fault analysis for property damage. Even the smallest automobile accident involves property damage. Likewise, when one is involved in an accident, one has no idea whether a potential plaintiff is going to come under the tort threshold or not. It is conceivable that a normal lawsuit will arise out of any collision. The operator of any motor vehicle must be concerned with coming into contact with an "eggshell" plaintiff. Additionally, Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309 has no effect whatsoever on punitive damages. Therefore, personal accountability for acts such as drunk driving remain wholly intact.

Defendant will concede that Plaintiff's desire for retribution and revenge has been replaced and a pound of flesh is no longer available. However, Plaintiff's assertion that personal accountability is sacrificed by the no-fault act has no basis whatsoever in fact as empirical data proves. One study showed "no evidence in support of the claim that no-fault insurance laws restricting general liability have led to increased fatal crashes in the United States." Abstract, Paul Zador and Adrian Lund, Reanalysis of the Effects of No-fault Auto Insurance on Fatal Crashes, 53 Journal of Risk in Insurance 234 (1986). A second study indicated:

The results indicate that fears of a dramatic escalation of fatal accidents because of no-fault insurance are unfounded. Even on a theoretical basis such fears have weak underpinnings. On an empirical basis, they appear to have no foundation whatsoever.

Request of Congress, Motor Vehicle Crash Losses and Compensation in the United States (1971); Report of the New York State Department of Insurance, Automobile Insurance . . . for Whose Benefit? (1970); Keeton and O'Connell, Basic Protection for the Traffic Victim (1965).

Abstract, Paul S. Kochanowski and Madeline B. Young, Deterrent Aspects of No-fault Automobile Insurance: Some Imparical Findings, 52 Journal of Risk in Insurance 286 (1985).

The concept of fault is retained in the No-fault Act, but a determination of who is at fault is determined by arbitration between the insurers. The benefit which the plaintiff in this case has already received is that the benefits were immediately forthcoming, not dependant on this determination of fault.

Plaintiff's arguments as to the arbitrariness of the no-fault statute are likewise without merit. Plaintiff seems to want to ignore the "verbal thresholds" which allow persons to continue with their tort claims when their medical expenses are less than \$3,000.00. Those "verbal thresholds" include dismemberment, disability, and permanent impairment. In fact, Plaintiff's assertion that "the difference between having a common law cause of action and having no cause of action at all may be a function of nothing more than the distance from the site of the accident to the hospital if the injured party is transported by ambulance" highlights that the threshold is really not that high.²² In short, the plaintiff cannot show in any way that the statute operates unreasonably, arbitrarily, or unequally as applied to him. Instead, the plaintiff must search for hopeless hypothetical situations in order to support his position.

For example, throughout Plaintiff's brief, Plaintiff cites either as support, or takes aim at the American Insurance Association's model "Personal and Property Protection Motor Vehicle

²²Plaintiff Brief at 42.

Insurance Act.” The problem with the plaintiff’s analysis in this case, is that Utah did not enact the AIA plan. For example, the AIA plan provides for no-fault property damage insurance. The AIA plan likewise provides for no verbal thresholds like the Utah statute. Plaintiff relies on a 1970 law review note which is really an educated guess at the actions of the Utah Supreme Court in reviewing an act which the Utah Legislature did not promulgate.²³ In retrospect, many of the assertions in the note are very wide of the mark. To finish the quote which the plaintiff cites in his brief at 16:

On its face, [Article I, section 11] would appear to invalidate the AIA plan because the plan denies an injured party to a right of action for pain and suffering, **for permanent impairment and disfigurement, for damage to motor vehicles, and for damage to other exempted personal property when such injuries are inflicted by a party who has proper personal and property protection insurance. . . .**

Plaintiff’s Brief at 16 (emphasis added). As the quote shows, the author of the note assumed that the constitutional review would include a plan which denies an injured party a right of action for permanent impairment or disfigurement and property damage. In short, the law review note does not discuss the present statute.

Lastly, the plaintiff attempts to show the act as incongruent with other rules of law, none of which are applicable to the present case. First, Plaintiff attempts to show that the no-fault law is somehow in conflict with Johnson v. Rogers, 763 P.2d 771 (Utah 1988). Plaintiff himself recognizes, and a cursory reading of the decision clearly shows, that the applicability of the no-

²³See supra note 4.

fault act is not addressed at all. The Johnson court's discussion of punitive damages is of course in no way effected by the no-fault act. Since Johnson v. Rogers does not discuss in any way the no-fault act, there cannot be claimed any conflict between that decision and the present act. Likewise, Reeves v. Gentile, 813 P.2d 111 (Utah 1991), in no way discusses the no-fault act. The issue simply was not before the court in Reeves, and therefore no conflict can be found.


CONCLUSION

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